# AUG 0 5 2013

No. 312348 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III DIVISION III

## GREGG BECKER,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

٧.

COMMUNITY HEALTH SYSTEMS, INC. d/b/a COMMUNITY HEALTH SYSTEMS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CORPORATION d/b/a COMMUNITY HEALTH SYSTEMS PSC, INC. d/b/a ROCKWOOD CLINIC P.S.; and ROCKWOOD CLINIC, P.S.,

Defendants/Appellants.

## **BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

Stellman Keehnel, WSBA # 9309 Katherine Heaton, WSBA # 44075 DLA PIPER LLP (US) 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 7000 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone: 206.839.4800

### I. INTRODUCTION

A wrongful discharge claim on public policy grounds is limited to those rare instances when "other means of promoting the public policy are inadequate" and the tort claim is "'the only available adequate means' to promote the public policy." *Cudney v. Alsco, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 524, 530, 259 P.3d 244, 247 (2011).

In this case, Plaintiff Gregg Becker claims he was wrongfully terminated in violation of public policy after he refused to misrepresent financial projections, which he claims would have violated unspecified reporting accuracy requirements.

Defendants moved to dismiss Becker's public policy wrongful termination tort claim because the public policy identified by the trial court as "honesty in business" and, specifically, "honest[y] in reporting to the SEC" is adequately protected by the federal Sarbanes-Oxley Act ("SOX") Pub.L. 107–204, 116 Stat. 745, and multiple other state and federal statutes and regulations.

The Superior Court refused to dismiss the public policy tort claim, despite the existence of adequate alternative remedies to promote and protect the public policy at issue, because Becker

persuaded the Superior Court that he might not *personally* have a remedy under SOX if Defendants successfully defeated his SOX claim, which is currently pending in front of the U.S. Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("OSHA").

Because the Superior Court's decision conflicts with decisions of the Washington Supreme Court in *Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc.,* 128 Wn.2d 931, 935, 913 P.2d 377 (1996), *Korslund v. Dyncorp Tri-Cities Servs., Inc.,* 156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005) and *Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc.,* 172 Wn. 2d 524, 259 P.3d 244, 247 (2011), as well as decisions in *Rose v. Anderson Hay* & *Grain Co.,* 168 Wn. App. 474, 276 P.3d 382 (2012) and *Nunnally v. XO Communications,* 2009 WL 112849 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 15, 2009), Defendants sought discretionary review. The Superior Court certified the issue as appropriate for discretionary review by the Court of Appeals pursuant to RAP 2.3(b)(4). (CP 1309-12) The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review on February 28, 2013. (CP 1315-16)

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did the trial court commit error in denying Rockwood's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy, given the fact that numerous federal and state laws adequately protect the public policy of honesty in business and honesty in reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC")?

## **III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Is a public policy of promoting honesty in business and financial reporting adequately protected by federal and state statutes and regulations so as to preclude a tort claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy?

2. Did the Plaintiff fail to establish the jeopardy element of his claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy?

3. Is a private cause of action for Plaintiff Becker the only adequate means to protect the public policy of honesty in business?

## **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### A. <u>THE PARTIES</u>

Defendants Rockwood Clinic, P.S. and Community Health Systems Professional Services Corporation (hereinafter "Rockwood" and "CHSPSC" or collectively "Defendants") are the petitioners in this appeal. Respondent Gregg Becker (hereinafter "Becker" or "Plaintiff") is the former Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") of Rockwood.

## B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On February 27, 2012, Plaintiff filed a Complaint for Damages in Spokane County Superior Court, alleging a state law claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy and a federal SOX claim. (CP 3-22)

Plaintiff alleges that he was constructively discharged because he would have been required to "engage in improper accounting practices and corporate fraud" if he had continued in his job. (CP 773-774)

Becker alleges that Community Health Systems, Inc. ("CHSI") is a publicly-traded company that must file reports with the

SEC. (CP 728) Becker alleges (incorrectly) that Rockwood was acquired by CHSI (CP 726-727) and that all reporting of Rockwood's financial results must be accurate to avoid misleading "creditors and investors about Rockwood's (and thereby CHS's) financial health." (CP 729)

As Rockwood's CFO, Becker alleges he submitted projections for "earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization" ("EBITDA") showing what he believed was an "accurate" predicted operating loss for Rockwood in 2012 of \$12 million: (CP 733) Becker then alleges that supervisors asked him to recalculate his projection to show how Rockwood could achieve its target budget EBITDA loss of \$4 million. (CP 734) Becker admits that he did not know why he had been tasked with showing how Rockwood could achieve the \$4 million loss in EBITDA, but alleges that he "reasonably believed" that this target could not be achieved. (CP 734-735) Becker refused to recalculate his projection. (CP 735)

Becker repeatedly alleges that he reported his concerns about being asked to recalculate the EBIDTA projection, explaining

that he thought a different projection would be inaccurate and could mislead investors. (CP 736-741) Becker alleges that Defendants responded to his reports by unilaterally reducing his responsibilities and circumventing his authority (CP 738) and that it was obvious he was going to be replaced. (CP 740) Becker alleges he submitted his resignation because of his concerns about the accuracy of the EBIDTA figure, the circumvention of his position as CFO, and "the apparent intent of CHS to misrepresent its projected budget through someone else." (CP 741)

Two days after filing his complaint for wrongful discharge in Violation of public policy, Becker filed a SOX complaint with OSHA, alleging discriminatory employment practices in violation of Section 806 of the Corporate and Criminal Fraud Accountability Act of 2002, Title VIII of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. § 1514A (SOX). (CP 209-222) In his OSHA complaint, Becker asserts that, as CFO, he was directed to provide misleading financial information to and for the benefit of CHSI for its use with investors and credit facilities, and was constructively discharged because of the pressure placed on him to recalculate the EBITDA

projection and "because of the clearly expressed intent of both respondents [Rockwood and CHSI] to submit such false information with or without his cooperation." (CP 216)

In his SOX complaint pending before OSHA, Becker requests a full range of relief, including back pay and benefits, front pay and benefits, compensation for loss of tenure at his prior position and the financial damage from the loss of that position, emotional distress damages, loss of reputation and loss of earning capacity, as well as an order expunging an unsatisfactory evaluation and performance improvement plan from his personnel file. (CP 217-218) In addition, Becker has demanded abatement of any further whistleblower violations, an order prohibiting the disclosure of any disparaging information about Becker to prospective employers or otherwise interfering with any applications he might make in the future, exemplary damages, attorney fees, costs of litigation and any other orders necessary to make him whole. (CP 218-19) A more comprehensive demand for remedies is difficult to imagine.

## C. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 27, 2012, Becker filed his Complaint in Spokane County Superior Court, alleging wrongful discharge and violation of SOX. Becker named as defendants (1) his former employer, Rockwood Clinic, P.S., and (2) in Plaintiff's nomenclature, "Community Health Systems, Inc. d/b/a Community Health Systems Professional Services Corporation d/b/a Community Health Systems PSC, Inc. d/b/a Rockwood Clinic P.S." The trial court ultimately dismissed claims against CHSI for lack of personal jurisdiction, but allowed plaintiff's claims against CHSPSC to continue. (CP 1321-23)

On March 29, 2012, Rockwood removed the case to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Washington, based on federal question jurisdiction arising from Becker's SOX claim. (CP 25-94) Rockwood (CP 184-224), CHSI (CP 225-289), and CHSPSC (CP 290-301) filed motions to dismiss, and plaintiff filed a motion to remand the case back to state court. (CP 302-316) After Defendants responded to the remand motion, Becker filed a motion to stay his remand motion to allow him to file an

Amended Complaint to delete the basis for federal question jurisdiction (i.e., the SOX claim). (CP 659-74) The federal District Court granted Plaintiff's motion (CP 720-723) and Becker filed an Amended Complaint, which is virtually identical to his original Complaint except that it has removed all specific references to SOX, instead citing to "numerous financial reporting requirements by statute and by ethical codes." (CP 724-48) In light of this revision, the U.S. District Court ordered the case to be remanded to Spokane County Superior Court on May 30, 2012. (CP 96-97; 749-50)

With the case back in Superior Court, Rockwood filed a Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). (CP 802-820) Defendant CHSPSC joined in Rockwood's motion. (CP 1318) The Superior Court denied the dismissal motion, concluding that Becker had stated a clear public policy which was characterized by the trial judge as honesty in business. (RP 83-84) The trial court also determined that Becker satisfied the jeopardy element of the claim. (RP 81-83) Ultimately, a written Order was entered on January 15, 2013. (CP 1024-26) The

Superior Court later certified, pursuant to RAP 2.3(b)(4), that the Order is appropriate for discretionary review because of the importance of the disputed jeopardy issue and its dispositive effect. (CP 1309-12)

The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. (CP 1315-16) The Commissioner identified the controlling question of law as whether existing statutory and/or regulatory schemes adequately promote the public policy of honesty in business so that a private tort remedy for Becker, who is otherwise terminable at will, is not needed. (CP 1316)

## V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's ruling on a CR 12(b)(6) motion is reviewed *de novo*. The motion should be granted if the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. *Hoffer v. State*, 110 Wn.2d 415, 755 P.2d 781 (1988). A plaintiff's factual allegations are presumed true for purposes of a CR 12(b)(6) motion. *Lawson v. State*, 107 Wn.2d 444, 448, 730 P.2d 1308 (1986).

The question of whether adequate alternative means exist for promoting the public policy presents a question of law where the

inquiry is limited to examining existing laws to determine whether they provide adequate alternative means of promoting the public policy. *Cudney v. ALSCO, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d at 529-30 (citing *Korslund*, 156 Wn.2d at 182). Questions of law are subject to *de novo* review on appeal. *McKee v. AT&T Corp.*, 164 Wn.2d 372, 387, 191 P.3d 845 (2008); *Weiss v. Lonnquist*, 173 Wn. App. 344, 354, 293 P.3d 1264 (2013).

## VI. ARGUMENT

Becker's tort claim for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy should have been dismissed under CR 12(b)(6) because existing statutory and regulatory schemes adequately promote the public policy of honesty in business so that a private tort remedy is not needed.

## A. <u>LEGAL ELEMENTS FOR CLAIM OF WRONGFUL</u> <u>DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY</u>

Absent a contract to the contrary, Washington employees are generally terminable "at will." *Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc.*, 128 Wn.2d 931, 935, 913 P.2d 377 (1996). The common law tort of wrongful discharge is a narrow exception to the terminable-at-will

#### **BRIEF OF PETITIONERS - 11**

ч. <u>у</u> (

doctrine. Id. at 935-36.

To prevail on a wrongful discharge claim, a plaintiff must satisfy a four-factor test. *Gardner*, 128 Wn.2d at 941 (citing Henry H. Perritt, Jr., *Workplace Torts: Rights and Liabilities* § 3.7 (1991)). Specifically, the plaintiff must show (1) "the existence of a clear public policy (the clarity element)"; (2) "that discouraging the conduct in which [he] engaged would jeopardize the public policy (the jeopardy element)"; (3) "that the public-policy-linked conduct caused the dismissal (the causation element)"; and, finally, (4) that "[t]he defendant [has not] offer[ed] an overriding justification for the dismissal (the absence of justification element)." *Id.* All four elements must be proved. *Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 459, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000). Only the jeopardy element is at issue in this appeal.

## B. <u>NUMEROUS STATUTES AND REGULATIONS</u> <u>PROTECT A PUBLIC POLICY OF HONESTY IN</u> <u>BUSINESS AND HONEST REPORTING TO THE</u> SEC

The Superior Court determined that the at-issue public policy was the public policy requiring honesty in business and honest

reporting to the SEC. (CP 83-84)

Courts in Washington have made it clear that a public policy wrongful discharge claim must be dismissed as a matter of law unless the plaintiff can point to a clear public policy and show that adequate alternative means for promoting that public policy do not exist. See, e.g., Korslund v. Dyncorp Tri-Cities Servs., Inc., 156 Wn.2d at 182 (rejecting as a matter of law a wrongful discharge claim because federal the Energy Reorganization Act provides means of promoting the alleged public policy); Nunnally v. XO Communications, 2009 WL 112849 at 9-12 (rejecting as a matter of law a SOX-based wrongful discharge claim because SOX provides adequate means of promoting the alleged public policy).

The jeopardy element guarantees that an employer's personnel management decisions will not be challenged unless a public policy is genuinely threatened. *Gardner*, 128 Wn.2d at 941-42. Becker's tort claim should have been dismissed because the public policy of honesty in business and honest reporting to the SEC is protected by a wide range of statutes and regulations. The

public policy is not in jeopardy, and a private cause of action need not be recognized, where there are other adequate means available. *Korslund*, 156 Wn.2d at 184. *Accord*, *Worley v. Providence Physician Services, Inc.*, No. 30950-9-III (July 23, 2013)(in order to establish the jeopardy element, the plaintiff has to establish that other means of promoting the public policy were inadequate and the actions she took in bringing a tort of last resort for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy, were the "only available means" to promote the public policy).

Numerous statutes and regulations exist to promote honesty in business and honest reporting to the SEC.

## 1. SOX Imposes a Duty of Accurate Reporting

SOX makes CEOs and CFOs directly responsible for the accuracy of all financial reports. SOX promotes the public policy by requiring public company CEOs and CFOs to certify that financial reports filed with the SEC are materially correct. SOX § 302, 15 U.S.C. § 7241. SOX requires that financial statements and disclosures "fairly present" the company's operations and financial condition in all material respects. *Id.* The CEO and CFO are

responsible for evaluating and maintaining internal controls and must ensure that material information related to the issuer <u>and its</u> <u>consolidated subsidiaries</u> is made known to such officials and others within such entities. *Id.* Further, they must certify that they have disclosed to the auditor and audit committee all "significant deficiencies" in the design or operation of internal controls, including any material weaknesses, and any fraud, whether or not material, that involved management or other employees who have a significant role in the issuer's internal controls. *Id.* 

A separate criminal provision requires the signing officer to certify that each periodic report containing financial statements complies with securities laws and that the information in such report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the company. Failure to do so is a felony, punishable by up to ten years in jail. A willful violation is punishable by a fine up to \$5 million and/or imprisonment of up to 20 years. SOX §906, 18 U.S.C. § 1350.

Under SOX, officers, directors and others are prohibited from fraudulently misleading their auditors. SOX §303, 15 U.S.C. § 7242.

The CEO and CFO must disgorge bonuses and profits after restatements due to misconduct. SOX §304, 15 U.S.C. § 7243. SOX gives the SEC authority to bring administrative proceedings to bar persons who are found to be "unfit" from serving as officers or directors of publicly-traded companies. SOX §305, 15 U.S.C. § 7244; 15 U.S.C. §78u-3. SOX also gives the SEC authority to temporarily freeze the pay of corporate officers pending an investigation of securities fraud. 15 U.S.C. §78u-3(c)(3).

To encourage reporting of financial fraud, regulations under the recently enacted Dodd-Frank Act provide a monetary award to anyone who voluntarily provides the SEC with information leading to a successful prosecution for violation of the federal securities laws, including for violations "about to occur." See 17 CFR § 240.21F, *et seq.* In addition, SOX regulations require audit committees to establish procedures for "the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of [public companies] of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters." 15 U.S.C. § 78j-1(m)(4)(B).

## 2. <u>SOX Protects Whistleblowers</u>

To further enhance the public policy of accurate financial reporting, Congress created an incentive to encourage employees and officers to report suspected fraud. SOX provides a private cause of action to any employee or officer who is retaliated against for reporting suspected fraud against shareholders, and this report can be made to any federal agency or to any person with supervisory authority over the employee. 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a) provides in relevant part:

No company . . . or any officer, employee, contractor. subcontractor, or agent of such company, may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass or in any other manner discriminate against an employee in the terms and conditions of employment because of any lawful act done by the employee-(1) to provide information, cause information to be provided, or otherwise assist in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably believes constitutes a violation of section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or assistance is provided to or the investigation is conducted by-(C) a person with supervisory authority over the employee (or such

other person working for the employer who has the authority to investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct)....

The SOX Act provides that a person who alleges discharge or discrimination by any person in violation of section 1514A(a) may seek relief by filing a complaint with the Secretary of Labor and, if the Secretary fails to issue a decision within 180 days of the filing of the complaint, the person may file an action in United States District Court. See 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(b)(1). Remedies include "all relief necessary to make the employee whole." 18 U.S.C. §1514A(c)(1). This relief may take the form of reinstatement at the same level of seniority, back pay with interest, and compensation for any special damages sustained including litigation costs, expert witness fees and reasonable attorney fees. 18 U.S.C. §1514A(c)(2). The Secretary of Labor has delegated the authority to review appeals under Section 806 and issue final agency decisions to the Administrative Review Board ("ARB"). See Delegation of Authority and Assignment of Responsibility to the Administrative Review Board, 75 Fed. Reg. 3924, 3924-25 (Jan. 25, 2010).

Section 1107 of SOX provides for criminal penalties for retaliation against whistleblowers. 18 U.S.C. § 1513(e).

SOX whistleblower protection extends to employees of "any subsidiary or affiliate whose financial information is included in the consolidated financial statements of [a publicly-traded] company." See 18 U.S.C. § 1514A. In paragraph 5.14 of his Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Rockwood's financial information is included in the consolidated financial statements of CHSI, a publicly-traded company. (CP 730) Thus, as a Rockwood employee, Becker himself admitted he is protected by SOX, as demonstrated by Becker simultaneously pursuing a SOX claim before OSHA. (CP 209-222)

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