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

This case presents no such clarity.

3. l8 U.S.C.A. 6 l5l4A (SO)O ir inadeourte to protect the public

in "Thompson v SL Repls" circum}l,,acaf.

!. SOX protects employee3 who report eristinq law
violrtions of oth€rs. i.e.. rf,hbtlebloweB. It i3

inrdeo[ate where tbere is no hw violation.

CHS/Rockwood argue that 18 U.S.C.A.'S $ l5l4A, a-k.a"

"SOX," allowed Becker an adequate remedy. But SOX is a

whistleblower statute. That very litle of the statute says as muoh:

"r) Whistleblower protectiotr for employees of publicly
traded companies.'

18 USCA S 1514A.

Ther€ must be existing violations of the law to report. The

statute then protects an employee reporting conduct that he or she

nreasonably believes constihles d violalion of ... ..." ld.

This is the classic category fow Dicomes claim- Dicomes, ll3

Wn-2d at 618-

And with SOX, the existing violation reported must also be a

violation ofcertain very specific statutes:



"...section 1341,1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation of
the Secuities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal
law relating to fraud against shareholders."

l8 U.S.C.A.'s $ 1514A.

SOX is the quintessential whistleblower statute for reporting

existing violations of certain statutes that, first, protect shareholders of

a publicly held corporation, which means that the company at issue

must ,lrove shareholders. The SOX law breaks down into three

requisites-application of the SOX statute first requires shareholders,

there must be a reporting ofexisting illegal conduct by others, and that

iflegal conduct mtst be believed to actively viola:te cert?j.n specilc

laws, even if the violation did not actually occur. As stated in

Lockheed Martin Corp. v. Admin. Reviefl Bd., U.S. Dep't of Labor, Tl'1

F.3d I l2l, ll30(t0thCir.2013). "[T]he plain, unambiguous text of$

lslaA(a)(l) establishes six categories of employer conduct against

which an employee is protected ftom retaliation for reporting:

violations of l8 U.S.C. $ l34l (mail fraud), $ 1343 (wire fraud), $

1344 (bank fraud), g 1348 (securities fraud), any rule or regulation of

the SEC, o,. any provision of federal ldw relaling lo frdud againsl

shareholders-" ld., emphasis added; and, e.g., Van Asdale v.

International Game Technologt, 577 F.3d 989,997 (9tr' Cir. 2009)
28



(where an employee reported existing conduct of others that was

belieYed to be sharcholder fraud).

ll Guyden v- Aetna, Inc., 5U F -3d 376, 384 (2d Cir. 2008), the

Second Circuit holds that an actual violation of the law need not exist,

but the employee must reasonably believe that the defendant's existing

conduct violates the law. Similarly, it Bishop v. PCS Administration

(USA), 1nc.,2006 WL 1460032 at 19 (N.D. Ill. May 23, 2006), the

court confirms that an employee engages in $ l5l4A potected activity

even if the reported existing conduct did not actually constitute a

violation of one of the laws or regulations enumerated in $

l5l4A(aXl). And similarly, in Welchv. Chao,536 F.3d269,277 (4th

Cir. 2008), SOX protection exists where the employee 'teasonably

believes" the conduct reported constitutes an existing violation. These

cases apply SOX to rcporting conduct of perceived existing violations

ofthe law by othe$.

h Livingston v- Wyerh, Inc., 520 F -3d 344, 352 (4th Cir. 2008),

the Founh Circuit confirms that there may well be no SOX protection

for a whistleblower wto *ts bdore there is a violation of the law,

precisely b€cause the statute requires employees to have a reasonable

belief of an "existing" violation. The statute sp€aks in the present
29



tense. There must be reasonable belief that the violation "has

happened" or "is in progress." /d. As recently as June 2013' the

United States District Colrln in Feldman v. l,ar Enforcement Associares

Corp., 5:10-CV-08-BR" 2013 WL 328E309 (E.D.N.C. June 28' 2013)'

reiterated the same "violation of the la ' requirement. Id, citing e.g.,

Welch, 536 F.3d at275 (quoting Livtrgrroz, 520 F.3d at 352).

The SOX whistleblower statute thus has exremely limited

application. It is activated by a report ofa very specific and an existing

law violation by another, that rclates to fraud against shareholders. Mr.

Becker was not a whistleblower. He did not report any existing and

specific law violations, because he r€frlsed to violate the law.

i. CHs/Rockwood aruue inapplicable whistleblower law. but

washinqton distinsuishes between whistleblower conduct

and refusal to enease in illeqal behavior in oublic Dolicy

claims.

CHS/Rockwood claims that because Becker r€firsed to violate the

lan, he is whistleblowi(E See Peritioners' BrieI ar 3G37 - The argument

is controverted by the existence ofthe four categories themselves-which

recognize the qualitalive dilference. Garbter, 128 Wn.2d at 935-936.

Becker was not reporting existing violalions ofthe law io his superiors, as
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Petitioners conjecture. Becker was telling his superiors rhat he would not

violate the law, and that this is what they werc directing him to do. See

Petitioners' Bief at 36-37. This is not wtisdeblowinB it is rcfusing to

commit a cfime.

The cases cited by CHs/Rockwood to support its argument are

inapplicable and classic whistleblower 'reporting" cases, i.e., category

four cases, where an employee reports existing law violations by

ottrcrs. See Cudney v. Alsco, lnc., 172 WrL2d 524, 530 (2011); Rose v-

Anderson Hay and Grarz Co., 168 Wn.App. 4'14,276P.3d382 (2012):

Smith v. Bqtes Technical College, 139 Wn.2d 793, 991 P2d ll35

(2000); Korslund v. Dyncory Tri-Cities Sems., Inc., 156 Wn.2d 168,

125 P.3d I 19 (2005); trnderson v. Abo Noble Cootings, Inc., l'12 Wr*2d

593, 260 P.2d 857 (2011).

kr Cudney v. Alsco, Inc., the employee repofied other people's

existing safety violations, and received whistleblower status. The

employee was not directed to himself violate the law. 172 Wn.2d at

530.

lt Rose v. Ard*son,Rw claimed that his employer violated the

law- The law violated was a paiicular federal Act, which itself

specifically prohibited an employer from terminating an employee for
ll



refusing to violate that Act. l6E Wn.App. at 476,47E, refering to 49

U.S.C.A. $ 31105. In other words, the employer not only violated a

statute and was reponed for i! but it again violated the same statute

when it fired the employee who refused to violate the statute.

ln Snith v. Bates Technical College, n employee was

discharged after reporting her employer's perceived violations of a

collective bargaining agreement" and then filed additional grievances of

retaliation for her earlier reporting. t39 Wn.2d at 793.

ln Korslund v. DynCorp Tri-Cities Sems., /nc., the claim was

one of alleged retaliation and harassment for the plaintiffs' reports of

existing safety violations, mismanagement, and fraud at the Hanford

Nucl€ar Res€rvation. 156 Wt.2d at 172-'13.

ln Anderson p. Abo Noble Coatings, /rc., the employee reported

existing safety violations, and filed a formal complaint with the State

reponing ongoing safety violations, including inadequate training. 172

Wn.2d at 59E-9.

Even in Prel, reccntly decided, an employee was discharged for

asserting collective bargaining rights, which is a Dicomes category

three claim. Piel,177 Wn2d, at 604.



Weiss v. Lonnquist, 173 Wn.App. 344,293 P.3d 1264 (2013) is

the only remotely parallel fact pattem and exceplion to

CHS/Rockwood's offered reporting cassq but in trerss, an afiomey

refused to engage in "unethical" conduct, not illegal conduct. She

argued that the public policy she was promoting was the policy

demanding candor to the tribunat qs sel forth in the Rules of

Professional Conduct. Uoethical behavior is not nccessarily illegal.

Teiss conceded thar the disciplinary rules of the bar olfered her an

altemative means ofprotecting that public policy ofcandor towards the

hibunal, because the Washington State Bar Association has the

authority and the ability to sanction an attomey. Weiss,173 Wr..App.

at 357-5t. This situation differs. Becker was ordered to violate the

law.

Thompson v. Sr. .Regir applies. Whistleblow€r stabtes do not

provide Mr. Becker a remedy for his discharge, because he is not

r€porting existing law violatiois.
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b. Where the idertitv of the emolover cennot be

detcrmined. the eEplovinq ertitv mrv not be subieca to
SOL and SOX is an inedeouete remcdv.

As noted above, the SOX whistleblower statute applies to only

very specific companies-the relevant companies are "reporting"

companies:

"with a class of securitics registered under section 12 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 7E0, or
that is rcquired to file repons under section l5(d) ofthe
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. ?8(d)
including any subsidiary or alliliate whose financial
information is included in the consolidated financial
statements of such company, or nationally recognized
statistical rating organization (as defined in section 3(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.
78c)..."

18 U.S.C. I 1s t4A.

Only employees of a publicly traded company, or employees of

a subsidiary or affiliate ofthe publicly traded company, are covered by

SOX. See, e.9., lan)son y. FMR LLC Co.,670 F.3d 6l (lr Cir. 2012).

ln Lowson, the coufi held that employees in the mutual fund industry

were not covered by SOX even though they were employed by a

conttactor of a publicly-traded company, and even though

whistleblowing activities clearly related to SOX Act concems. The
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company bing reponed must itself be a "reporting" company, or a

company who r€pons their financial information to a reporting

company. The corporate labyrinth thwarts this statute as a remedy to

lhe conduct here.

B€cker is not employed by the reporting company CHS, Inc., as

CHS, Inc. is a holding company with no employees. M July 27, 2012

at p. 27: 1-4, 7-10.

Becker is not employed by a "subsidiary" or "amliate" of a

r€porting company because, according to CHSI counsel al oral

argument, CHS PSC is a subsidiary ofCHSI, and if CHS PSC had been

added to rhe CP 2'19 chart, it would have becn "two tiers down." RP

27: 7-14. Bd Becker is not employed by CHS PSC either. Rockwood

is held by CHS Washington Holdings, LLC. ld-,p.28:.2-ll.

Per filed materials, Rockwood Clinic's reporting status cannot

be discemed because Rockwood Clinic is (at best) a subsidiary (or

amliat€) of an LLC "Class B member of Rockwood and member of

Deaconess and Valley" CHS Washington Holdings LLC, which is not

identified as a reporting company. CP 279. And CHS Washington

Holdings LLC is only a possible "member" ofa subsidiary LLC known

as Community Health Investment Company LLC, which is not
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evidenced as a reporting company. CP 279. Tll€ latter LLC,

Community Health Investment Company LLC, is also conveE€ly listed

as a "member ofCHS Washington Holdings LLC," which means they

are each members of each other, but neither appears to be a reporting

company, but may be either a subsidiary or a "member" of a structure

known as "CHs/Community Health Systems, Inc", which is lhen

identified as "a Member of Community Health Investunent Company,

LLC," which is then identified as a subsidiary or member ofCHS, Inc,

which is the publicly traded reponing company, but which allegedly

has no employees. CP 279: RP, p. 27. Along the way, there are

mergers with off-the-grid entities. CP 861, 871. And CHS PSC, the

Petitioner, is not listedat^ll. CP 279. CHSI counsel confirms, in fac!

that CHSI has nothing to do with Rockwood, or anyone in the merger

agreement. RP 29: 13- 19.

It cannot be determined if SOX applies.

And even if Rockwood or CHS PSC could be perceived as an

"affiliate" ofa rcporting company, that alliliate's financial information

must be included in the consolidated financial statements of the

reporting company to be coverEd. 18 U.S.C. S ,lJ.l4l. No such
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evidence exists in this record.3 Petitioners argue th€ contrary to OSIIA.

There, they argue that the information Becker was directcd to falsiry is

not publicly reported; it is protected by'Safe Hartor" exceptions. CP

1287, 1296, t299.

Neither "the public," nor any employee could access this

corporate labyrinth information. It is held somewhere in the bowels of

a CHS, Inc. or CHS PSC legal depanment, the latter entities located in

Somewhere, U.S.A. For what it is ultimately worth, the only means of

accessing this information is by having a person discharged from his

employment Iile a public policy tort claim naming the 'Vrong"

employer "doing business as" any litany of known narnes to flush out

the actual culpri! as Becker did here. CP J8-39. And having done so,

the waters begin chumirtg. CP 29-34 (Notice of Remond).

SOX cannot provide an adequate remedy. Its application cannot

be determined, even on this appeal. This lablrinthine legal conundrum

exists with the use ofanl statute, whether civil or criminal. No one can

determine what law may apply until one knows who their employer is,

1 This may be becaus€ CHS PSC is simultancously a8uing to OSHA that SOX
does nol apply, so lhc r€porting stros of sll ol thes€ cntities must ncc€ssarily remain
v6gue.
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where that employer is located, who owns it, and in what sense. The

SOX remedy is inadequate to protect the public policy of ensuring that

employers in one state do not direct employees of other entities in

Washington to violate the law, or lose theirjob in Washington.

c. Where the nrture of the linrncirl informaaiotr

reouired bv ahe emplover to bc frllilied is roa rubiect
to SO)L SOX is an inadeourte remedv.

In the OSHA Agency proceeding, CHS/ Rockwood argue to

OSHA that the SOX statute does not apply to Becker because Becker

was doing fnancial projections, which are allegedly not included in

consolidated financial statements of a publicly raded company. CP

1291. Petitioners reference "safe harboC' laws, claiming SOX

exemption through those exceptions. CP .t29,1. Petifionen also note to

OSHA that SOX applies only to reports of violations of very specific

federal statut€s, 18 U.S.C. $ l34l (mail fraud), g 1343 (wire fraud), g

1344 (bank fraud), $ l34E (securities fraud), any rule or regulation of

the SEC, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against

shareholders. CP /29l.

CHS/Rockwood claims that none ofthese violations are at issue,

including for reason of "safe harbor" laws. CP 1287, 1291-93, 1295-
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97, t299. Ap;air,, the SOX statute do€s not readily apply to allow for

any remedy against the employer's conduct. Mr. Becker's claim is not

one to determine the applicability ofa statute to the information he was

required to falsi!; it is an action foi consfuctive discharge for his

refusal to commit an illegal act, including basic perjury. SOX is not an

adequate remedy to protect the public fiom the employer conduct

evidenced here.

d. Epcoursqils reoortins of ootrtrbtent claims is

slllIlqls-pcDue-psligL

CHS/Rockwood argues lhat public policy must encourage a CFO

to report financial improprieties-apparently to a SOX agetcy. See

Petitionel's Briefat 40. [t should not be the public policy ofthis state to

encourage employees to rEport non-existent violations of laws. It should

be the public policy of this state to encourage employees to walk away

from an employer who rcquires the employee to violate lhe law to k€ep a

job, and to file a wongful discharge claim to ad&€ss the employers'

behavior, as that is the only means of protecting the public from such

actions.
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e'@

emplover. or information at issue. it Drovides no

adeauatc relief.

Had CHs/Rockwood located a clearly sable stat\te, even such a

statute may not provide an adequate remedy to protect the public

policy- Piel, l7'7 Wn.2d at 616. As thc trial court noted, "[Y]ou can

file claims all over the place, but the question is, are they going to be

heard? That is an intercsting policy mattet' RP July 27, 2012, p.83:

2-4, ln Rose v. Anderson, for example, the statute which prohibited the

employer's conduct also provided for expedited remedies against the

employer. 168 Wn.App. at 478, citing 49 U.S.C. $ 31105. But under

49 U.S.C. $ 31105, the agency charged is required to conduct an

investigation, make findings, and implement rclief within 60 days.

Here, the evidence is that an agency claim will not be heard, much less

acted on for nearly two years.

On February 29, 2012, after his discharge, Becker filed his

agency complaint with OSHA. CP 169-73. Seven months later, by

September 25,2012, the agency had still not opened any investigation.

CP 1072. CHslRockwood impliedly agreos in its briefing that reporting

SOX violations to OSHA is so fulile that the most likely scenario is that
40



the employee will end up having lo file a United States Distsict CotIIt

action anr[ay.

What is evidenced here is that ater the prcpos€d six-month

exhaustion process, during which nothing happenq a SOX complaint

Iiling in the United Stales Distict Coun will result in the same position

taken by CHS in the agenry manq which is thar SOX does not apply to

Becker's situaioq his employer is not his r€ported ernployer, his rcal

employer is not covaed by SO& the information Becker was dirEcted to

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